# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/6/2024 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102739-7 No. 82407-4

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# RANDALL R. STEICHEN,

Petitioner,

VS.

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Randall R. Steichen urges this Court to accept review of the decision terminating review.

# COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Steichen seeks review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division One, filed on October 23, 2023. A copy of the slip opinion is set forth in the Appendix.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In reviewing summary judgment de novo, whether an appellate court can consider and rely upon inadmissible evidence and whether it must consider evidence properly called to the attention of the trial court.
- 2. Whether a condominium owner owes assessments when his account has a credit (positive) balance.
- 3. Whether a trial court has authority to enter a foreclosure judgment after dismissing the action "in its entirety."
- 4. Whether a party who does not plead authority, and adamantly maintains it does not apply, is entitled to fees pursuant to that authority, RCW 64.34.455.
- 5. Whether a party who is not subject to RCW 64.34.455 or an association's declaration is entitled to fees pursuant to RCW 64.34.455.

- 6. Whether an appellate court can find, without supporting evidence, that an owner *impliedly* consented to allow a property manager to withdraw special assessments from his bank account after expressly refusing consent in writing.
- 7. Whether an appellate court has discretion to refuse to review an order designated in the notice of appeal.
- 8. Whether a judge has a duty to disqualify himself when a party establishes that he appears to be and is biased and whether an appellate court can find, without supporting evidence, that the party *waived* disqualification.
- 9. Whether an appellate court has plenary authority to strike a brief that complies with the rules of appellate procedure and refuse to consider issues that have been properly preserved and are supported by legal authority.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Background

This case is before this Court because a collection attorney (CLG), with the approval of a condominium association and its property manager (CWD), unlawfully terminated the utilities to Steichen's unit in the dead of winter when Steichen's homeowner account had a *\$30,458.20 credit*.

On June 1, 2017, CWD began charging Steichen \$382.89 monthly because the Association surreptitiously financed Steichen's special assessment allocation through its loan. CP 360-66, 512-13, 1449-1452. Unbeknownst to Steichen, this resulted in an outstanding account balance. CP 360-66, 6465.

Under threat of foreclosure and because Respondents misled him into believing it was *a* valid, outstanding special assessment obligation, Steichen agreed to, and paid, \$49,620. CP 517, 889, 3276-3283, 6415, 7758. Because CWD never imposed \$49,620, after Steichen's initial December 2017 payment, his account *always* had a credit (*positive*) balance. CP 512-13, 6465.

When Steichen's account had a *\$30,458.20 credit*, Respondents unlawfully terminated the utilities to his unit in November 2018. CP 3553, 7374, 8866-67, 11275; RCW 64.32.200(1). To conceal Steichen's account credit, Respondents fabricated hearsay ledgers, artificially separating payments and monthly \$382.89 special assessments from other assessmentsduplicitously making it appear that Steichen's account was delinquent. CP 198-200, 903-09, 1185-88, 6066-6074, 8529; RCW 64.34.020.

When a collection attorney colludes with a condominium association and property manager to deceive an owner into paying charges that were never imposed, the owner should have his day in court. That was not allowed, however.

### B. Procedural History

"This case really should have been settled. It never should have needed to be filed, honestly." CP 997 (—trial judge).<sup>1</sup>

After two years of litigation, the trial court erroneously: (1) granted summary judgment on the Association's Counterclaim; and (2) summarily dismissed Steichen's claims despite genuine factual issues. The court compounded its errors by awarding Respondents over *\$700,000* in fees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Someone has a thirst for litigating, otherwise this would have settled ... the holidays would be more cheerful ... if you'd just resolve this case.... It just takes two reasonable sides." CP 9190, 9197.

Improperly striking Steichen's reply brief, Division One affirmed, relying upon hearsay, failing to consider Steichen's evidence, and failing to follow precedents. It was clear that the panel did not understand homeowner accounts.

[Panel:] Is there a requirement if there is a credit in the account that it has to be used for anything that is outstanding? ...

So, the same account is for everything? And, so, if there is money in it regardless of whether there is an outstanding assessment that was to be paid ... if there's \$30,000 sitting there and he owes an assessment, they're just supposed to take the assessment from ... that account?<sup>2</sup>

A homeowner's account is an electronic ledger application that keeps a running total of charges and payments—it is not a physical account. CP 830-35, 1450.<sup>3</sup> Rather, payments go into an association's bank account.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Division 1 Court of Appeals, TVW,

https://www.tvw.org/watch/?clientID=9375922947&eventID=202 3041266 at 7:50-9:03.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CWD: "[T]he ledger ... is a running total." CP 8828.

On December 20, 2023, the Association sued Steichen—again.

#### REASONS TO ACCEPT REVIEW

 Violating Due Process, Division One's opinion contravenes this Court's precedents and court of appeals' decisions by considering inadmissible evidence and refusing to consider evidence called to the trial court's attention to find an owner owes assessments when his account has a credit (positive) balance.

In derogation of this Court's precedents, Division One relied upon hearsay to affirm the Counterclaim summary judgment. "Steichen also asserts that the trial court erred by relying on an inadmissible ledger. But Steichen failed to object before the trial court, thus waiving this claim of error. RAP 2.5(a)." Op. 15, n. 4.<sup>4</sup>

"A court cannot consider inadmissible evidence when ruling on a motion for summary judgment." *Dunlap v. Wayne,* 105 Wn.2d 529, 535, 716 P.2d 842 (1986). "Hearsay is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Steichen objected. CP 765-772, 13149.

inadmissible." *Kenco Enterprises Nw., LLC v. Wiese*, 172 Wn. App. 607, 615, 291 P.3d 261 (2013). "Any statements consisting of inadmissible evidence must be treated as mere surplusage and disregarded." *Washington Pub. Util. Districts' Utilities Sys. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Clallam Cnty.*, 112 Wn.2d 1, 17, 771 P.2d 701 (1989).<sup>5</sup>

"The admissibility of evidence in summary judgment proceedings is reviewed de novo." *Am. Exp. Centurion Bank v. Stratman*, 172 Wn. App. 667, 674-75, 292 P.3d 128 (2012).<sup>6</sup> Harrison's ledger is indisputably hearsay as the charges and payments were not recorded contemporaneously. RCW 5.45.020; CP 195-200.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Several published appellate opinions conflict with these precedents. *See Becerra v. Expert Janitorial, LLC*, 176 Wn. App. 694, 728, 309 P.3d 711 (2013); *Orris v. Lingley*, 172 Wn. App. 61, 67-68, 288 P.3d 1159 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CWD: Harrison's ledgers were "recently drafted." Br., 39; CP 8529.

In contravention of precents, Division One refused to

consider evidence Steichen called to the court's attention.

Steichen asserts that the ledgers established a genuine issue of fact over whether Steichen's account had a credit .... But "[a]n argument that was neither pleaded nor argued to the superior court on summary judgment cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." Johnson v. Lake Cushman Maint. Co., 5 Wn. App. 2d 765, 780, 425 P.3d 560 (2018) (citing Sourakli v. Kyriakos, Inc., 144 Wn. App. 501, 509, 182 P.3d 385 (2008)); see also RAP 2.5(a) ... Steichen did not make this argument in his pleadings in response to summary judgment ... we do not consider Steichen's new argument on appeal.

Op., 13.

"On review, the appellate court 'will consider only evidence and issues *called to the attention of the trial court.*" *Mithoug v. Apollo Radio of Spokane*, 128 Wn.2d 460, 462, 909 P.2d 291 (1996); RAP 9.12.<sup>7</sup> "An appellate court would not be properly accomplishing its charge if [it] did not examine *all* the evidence presented to the trial court." *Folsom v. Burger King*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Steichen called CWD's ledger to the court's attention. CP 371, 512-13, 13104-05.

135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998). "[T]he trial court must consider all admissible evidence presented." *Haley v. Amazon.com Servs.*, LLC, 25 Wn. App. 2d 207, 220, 522 P.3d 80 (2022). "Evidence called to the attention of the trial court is properly before us, whether or not it was considered." *Goodwin v. Wright*, 100 Wn. App. 631, 648, 6 P.3d 1 (2000). This includes motions for reconsideration. *Tanner Elec. Co-op. v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co.*, 128 Wn.2d 656, 675, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996). Division One's opinion conflicts with these precents.

Division One conflates (a) argument with evidence and (b) pleadings with summary judgment papers, conflicting with *Sourakli*: "An argument neither pleaded nor argued to the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *Sourakli v. Kyriakos, Inc.*, 144 Wn. App. 501, 509, 182 P.3d 985 (2008). Steichen pleaded and argued his account had a credit.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> December 21, 2018: "[CWD's] ledger shows Plaintiff's account balance as *minus \$25,269.31*." CP 37.

<sup>&</sup>quot;CWD admits to the ledger amount." CP 2746.

Division One violated Steichen's constitutional rights by relying upon hearsay and failing to consider CWD's ledgers. Additionally, adjudicating "factual issues ... violates the right to a jury trial." *Haley*, LLC, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 218. "[T]he right of access to courts for redress of wrongs is an aspect of the First Amendment." *Sure-Tan, Inc. v. N.L.R.B.*, 467 U.S. 883, 896-97 (1984).

A more inequitable result than that imposed by Division One is difficult to imagine. If left standing, the effect on 2.4 million people who are members in homeowner associations in Washington State will be far-reaching, and in many cases devastating.<sup>9</sup> Division One's opinion will allow courts to rely upon hearsay and to refuse to consider evidence in imposing summary judgment. Default judgments are routine in foreclosure

Respondents misrepresented that Steichen "owed assessments that were never due and owing." CP 944; CP 751-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> App., 48-87. Homeowners pay their associations assessments totaling *\$91.3 million* per year. *Id.* 

actions, and homeowners who do appear are often forced to represent themselves. Homeowners will not be able to untangle the conflicting opinions that exist and will not understand applicable legal principles. *Homeowners* will not be able to defend themselves and *will lose their homes*.

If left stand, Division One's opinion will allow collection attorneys to collude with homeowner associations and property managers to deceive owners they want to get rid of into liability for unlawful charges and then *take* their homes through foreclosure based upon fictitious charges in hearsay ledgers. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

2. Division One's opinion contradicts this Court's precedents and court of appeals' decisions by erroneously finding that trial courts can enter judgment awarding foreclosure after dismissing an action "in its entirety."

It is elementary that a court cannot enter a foreclosure judgment after dismissing a case. Yet, that is exactly what happened. On January 29, 2021, pursuant to CR 54(b), the court entered the Counterclaim Judgment. CP 10357-10366. On February 8<sup>th</sup>, it entered Judgment, stating: "There being no claims remaining to litigate, *this case is hereby dismissed in its entirety with prejudice*." CP 13020 (emphasis added).

Division One found that the CR 54(b) Judgment "was not itself a final judgment but instead directed entry of final judgment." Op., 15. "A judgment is the final determination of the rights of the parties in the action." *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Owens*, 173 Wn.2d 40, 51, 266 P.3d 211 (2011). Whether a document "constitutes a judgment is determined by whether it finally disposes of a case and was intended to do so." *Id.* The February 8<sup>th</sup> Judgment expressly states that it disposed of the entire case.

"When a judgment is once entered of record, it must stand as the judgment, until it is vacated, modified, or disposed of by some means provided by law; *entering additional judgment entries is not one of them.*" *Wagner v. N. Life Ins. Co.*, 70 Wash. 210, 212, 126 P. 434 (1912)(emphasis added). "A final order or judgment ... concludes the party against whom it is rendered from further pursuing his right or remedy in the court in which it is entered." *Morris & Co. v. Canadian Bank of Commerce*, 95 Wash. 418, 426, 163 P. 1139 (1917). After dismissing an action, *in its <u>entirety</u>*, the trial court does not retain authority to enter a foreclosure judgment.

Division One's opinion conflicts with what constitutes a CR 54(b) Judgment. *Fluor Enterprises, Inc. v. Walter Const., Ltd.*, 141 Wn. App. 761, 767, 172 P.3d 368 (2007).<sup>10</sup> The opinion contravenes precedents that "there must be an express determination *in the judgment* that there is no just reason for delay." *Doerflinger v. New York Life Ins. Co.*, 88 Wn.2d 878, 881, 567 P.2d 230 (1977)(emphasis added). Only the CR 54(b) Judgment sets forth this determination. *Compare* CP 10362-64 *with* CP 13022-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Judgment: "the orders for which the Association seeks certification meet each [CR 54(b)] element." CP 10362, 13354.

Division One's opinion conflicts with *Owens* by erroneously relying upon RCW 4.64.030(3): "a judgment does not take effect, until the judgment has a summary in compliance with this section." Op., 15. This Court instructed that RCW 4.64.030(1) "mean[s] that a clerk may not enter a judgment *in the execution docket*, and the judgment does not take effect *for purposes of the execution docket*, until a proper summary exists." *Owens*, 173 Wn.2d at 54.

If left to stand, the opinion will generate profound confusion. Parties, especially *pro se* homeowners, will have to be soothsayers to determine when a decision might be a judgment. This confusion will greatly prejudice parties, who will have to appeal every decision that might be a judgment or gamble on their appellate rights *and their homes*. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2),(4). 3. Violating Due Process, Division One's opinion contravenes precedents by concluding that a party who does not plead authority, and adamantly maintains it does not apply, is entitled to fees pursuant to that authority, RCW 64.34.455.

Division One denied Steichen Due Process in affirming, and awarding, attorney fees. Op., 22-24, 43. "Due process requires a [party] 'to be advised, by the pleadings, of the issues he must be prepared to meet." *Dalton M, LLC v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 534 P.3d 339, 347, 2 Wn.3d 36 (2023). "That includes the issue of attorney fees." *Id.* "The requirement that a party plead attorney fees provides the opposing party ... a chance to make an informed decision to undergo the risks of litigation." *Id.* 

Respondents did not plead RCW 64.34.455 because the Association admits:

#### **Potential for Attorney Fees**

The Association has *not* adopted the attorney fee provisions ... *in RCW 64.34.455* and, instead, adopted [CP 1836] ... that provides ... parties are to bear their own attorney fees.

CP 1435 (emphasis added); CP 170, 1711, 2754, 2877, 2938-39,

5177, 11285.

Pursuant to RCW 64.34.445:

If ... [any] person subject to this chapter fails to comply with any provision hereof or any provision of the declaration ... any person ... adversely affected by the failure to comply has a claim<sup>11</sup> for appropriate relief. The court, in an appropriate case, may award reasonable attorney's fees to the prevailing party.

This "shall be liberally administered to the end that the aggrieved

party is put in as good a position as if the other party had fully

performed." RCW 64.34.100.

Division One ignored CWD's ledgers to find: "[Steichen] violated provisions of the WCA and the Declaration by not paying his regular monthly dues ... respondents were 'adversely affected' by Steichen's actions." Op., 24. Steichen's account had a credit—he fully performed. Accordingly, Respondents are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> A claim for relief is "the part of a complaint ... specifying what relief the plaintiff asks for." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, cause of action; CR 8(a).

not "aggrieved part[ies] under the Act." *Eagle Point Condo. Owners Ass 'n v. Coy*, 102 Wn. App. 697, 714, 9 P.3d 898 (2000).

The opinion contravenes *Sixty-01*, where Division One did not award fees to a third-party investor pursuant to RCW 63.34.364(14) or the declaration because "both of those apply to the condominium owners not a third party investor [who was] not a party to that contract." *Sixty-01 Ass 'n of Apartment Owners v. Parsons*, 178 Wn. App. 228, 234-35, 314 P.3d 1121 (2013). Likewise, the Declaration and RCW 64.34.355 do not apply to CLG or CWD.

If left standing, Division One's opinion will have sweeping consequences and subject 2.4 million people in homeowner associations in Washington to (1) unlawful fees without notice and (2) the inability to weigh litigation risks. It will also subject owners to the imposition of unlawful attorneys' fees that the Legislator never intended. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). 4. Division One's opinion contravenes precedents and violates Due Process by *finding as a matter of fact* that an owner impliedly consented to a property manager withdrawing assessments from his bank account after he expressly refused consent in writing.

Division One raised and adjudicated an entirely new

defense.

Steichen argues that CWD made automatic withdrawals from his checking account without his authority.... Steichen impliedly consented to these payments toward the special assessment.... If the tort generates a benefit ... there may be no damages ... the three charges for \$382.89 ... went toward debts validly owed by Steichen.

Op., 36. This Court has squarely rejected the argument "that

there can be no conversion where there is a benefit to the owner."

W. Farm Serv., Inc. v. Olsen, 151 Wn.2d 645, 653, 90 P.3d 105

(2004).

"Money may be the subject of conversion if the defendant wrongfully received it." *Alhadeff v. Meridian on Bainbridge Island, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 601, 619, 220 P.3d 12147 (2009). The contract expressly states that Steichen did not consent to CWD

debiting special assessments.

In addition to regular assessmen	nts, I (we) hereby au	thorize COMPANY to initiate debit entries for:
Fees or Fines	🗌 Yes	No
Special assessments	Yes	No No
Other	Yes	1 No

CP 8563. Steichen did not impliedly consent.

Steichen authorized CWD to make automatic withdrawals from his checking account once each month, in the exact amount of his regular monthly assessment—and no more. *Id.* On August 5, 2017, February 5, 2018, and March 6, 2018, CWD debited \$382.89 from Steichen's bank account without authorization. CP 152, 363-64, 8563, 1450.<sup>12</sup> This is textbook conversion/theft.<sup>13</sup> Division One improperly found facts for which there is no supporting evidence and applied an erroneous legal standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> There was no benefit. CP 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Trial court: "there was a conversion." CP 1576, 13150.

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