FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/1/2024 4:12 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Case No. 102739-7

COURT OF APPEALS, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Case No. 82407-4-I

RANDALL R. STEICHEN, Petitioner,

v.

1223 SPRING STREET OWNERS ASSOC, *et al.* Respondents.

CWD GROUP'S ANSWER
TO RANDALL R.
STEICHEN'S MOTION FOR
DISCRETIONARY
REVIEW, AND APPENDIX

Submitted by:

Matthew R. Wojcik Owen R. Mooney BULLIVANT HOUSER BAILEY PC 925 Fourth Avenue, Suite 3800 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: 206.292.8930 Facsimile: 206.386.5130

Attorneys for CWD Group

#### **

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> RAP 13.5(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> In re Dependency of N.G., 199 Wn.2d at 595 (describing similar criteria in RAP 2.3(b)).

limits the freedom of a party to act."<sup>26</sup> As to substantially altering the status quo, that "requires an immediate effect outside the courtroom."<sup>27</sup>

3. "If the Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, or so far sanctioned such a departure by a trial court or administrative agency, as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction by the Supreme Court."<sup>28</sup>

The above are "specific and stringent ...."<sup>29</sup> They present a "heavy burden"<sup>30</sup> for the moving party.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> RAP 13.5(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> In re Dependency of N.G., 199 Wn.2d at 602 (describing similar criteria in RAP 2.3(b)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> RAP 13.5(b)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> In re Dependency of N.G., 199 Wn.2d at 595 (internal quotations and citation omitted)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See In re Grove, 127 Wn.2d 221, 235, 897 P.2d 1252 (1995) (describing burden under similar criteria in RAP 2.3(b)).

Steichen seeks review of the Court of Appeals' Order under RAP 13.5. But he does not meet its heavy burden, making irrelevant arguments on a matter other than the amount of the awards of attorney fees in the Commissioner's Ruling in question for the Court of Appeals in issuing its Order. This Court should *deny* his Motion.

## B. The Court of Appeals' Order regarded a review of the Commissioner's Ruling on the amounts of awards of attorney fees on appeal—not the right to them.

In his motion for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' Order, Steichen argues about whether the Respondents had a right to awards of attorney fees under RCW 64.34.455. That, however, was a matter resolved in the Court of Appeals' unpublished Opinion, and it could not be resolved in the Commissioner's Ruling at issue in the Order.

Deciding the right to an award of attorney fees on appeal and deciding the award's amount are different processes governed by different provisions in RAP 18.1. To seek a

decision on the right to an award of attorney fees in cases like this one, a party must request and argue for the fees in their brief on the merits before the Court of Appeals.<sup>31</sup>

If the Court of Appeals awards that party the "*right*"<sup>32</sup> to an award of attorney fees in its "decision"<sup>33</sup>—here, the unpublished Opinion—then that triggers a separate process for determining the award's "*amount* ...."<sup>34</sup> That party must submit an affidavit showing the expenses and work done, <sup>35</sup> to which an opposing party may timely object.<sup>36</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> RAP 18.1(b); *Wilson Ct. Ltd. P'ship v. Tony Maroni's, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 692, 710 n.4, 952 P.2d 590 (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> RAP 18.1(d) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> RAP 18.1(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> RAP 18.1(f) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> RAP 18.1(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> RAP 18.1(e).

Then, a "commissioner ... will determine the amount of the award" under RAP 18.1(f).<sup>37</sup> That provision does not allow for the resolution of anything other than the "amount" of the award—like the "right" to an award of attorney fees resolved in a preceding "decision" by the Court of Appeals.<sup>39</sup>

The commissioner issues their determination on the award's amount,<sup>40</sup> here in the Commissioner's Ruling. After, the Court of Appeals' three-judge panel may review the commissioner's ruling if an objecting party timely files a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> RAP 18.1(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id.* See In re Det. of Williams, 147 Wn.2d 476, 491, 55 P.3d 597 (2002) ("[T]o express one thing in a statute implies the exclusion of the other.... Omissions are deemed to be exclusions."); *Jafar v. Webb*, 177 Wn.2d 520, 526, 303 P.3d 1042 (2013) ("Court rules are interpreted in the same manner as statutes.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> RAP 18.1(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> RAP 18.1(f).

motion to modify it.<sup>41</sup>

If, however, a party wants to dispute the right to the award of attorney fees, then they must do so with different filings under different rules. For example, they may file not more than one motion for reconsideration of the opinion in which the appellate court decided that right.<sup>42</sup>

Here, then, the Order of the Court of Appeals could regard only the amounts of the awards of attorney fees in the Commission's Ruling that Steichen moved to modify. After the Court of Appeals awarded fees in its unpublished Opinion, the Commissioner had before it affidavits for those fees,<sup>43</sup> based on which they could determine only the amounts of the awards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> RAP 18.1(g); RAP 17.7. *See Winter v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. on behalf of Winter*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 815, 843, 460 P.3d 667 (2020) ("When a party moves to modify a commissioner's ruling under RAP 17.7, we review the ruling de novo.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> RAP 12.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> See, e.g., Affidavit of Matthew R. Wojcik for CWD Group's Attorney Fees on Appeal, No. 82407-4-I (Wash. App. Nov. 2, 2023).

The Commissioner did so in their ruling.<sup>44</sup> When Steichen moved to modify the Commissioner's Ruling,<sup>45</sup> it triggered the Court of Appeals' review of the same—not a review of the unpublished Opinion's determination on the right to an award of attorney fees, which was a subject of Steichen's unsuccessful motion for reconsideration and is now a subject of his petition for review at this Court.<sup>46</sup>

In addition, because of other motion practice at the Court of Appeals, Steichen could not use his motion to modify to have the Court of Appeals' review its determination on the right to an award of attorney fees. Before his motion to modify, Steichen filed a motion for reconsideration of the unpublished

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Commissioner's Ruling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Motion to Modify.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Opinion at pp. 22–24, 43; Motion for Reconsideration, No. 82407-4-I (Wash. App. Nov. 13, 2023); Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Striking Motion for Court to Consider Motion for Reconsideration En Banc, No. 82407-4-I (Wash. App. Dec. 20, 2023); Petition at pp. 1, 15–18.

Opinion, including its determinations on attorney fees.<sup>47</sup> He, then, could not file another motion directed at the reconsideration of those determinations in the unpublished Opinion, as that would violate RAP 12.4(h)'s limit of "only one motion for reconsideration ...."

# C. Steichen fails to show that the Court of Appeals' Order triggers RAP 13.5(b) and, instead, gives irrelevant arguments.

The Court of Appeals' Order did not trigger RAP 13.5(b). There is no error that substantially changes the status quo or substantially limits Steichen's freedom to act. Steichen has owed the Respondents' attorney fees since the trial court litigation<sup>48</sup>; what he owes increased as an ordinary result of him

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Motion for Reconsideration at pp. 31–35, No. 82407-4-I (Wash. App. Nov. 13, 2023); Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Striking Motion for Court to Consider Motion for Reconsideration En Banc, No. 82407-4-I (Wash. App. Dec. 20, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> CP 12172–12219, 12478–12481.

continuing the litigation at the Court of Appeals. Nor did the Courts of Appeals depart from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings or commit an error that would make further proceedings useless. The Court of Appeals refused to modify the Commissioner's Ruling that was consistent with the law that governed the same, absent Steichen showing otherwise.

In trying to change a prior determination at the appellate court, a moving party should not submit new arguments for the first time.<sup>49</sup> In addition to preserving and timely making their arguments, a moving party must give sufficiently developed arguments in their motion.<sup>50</sup> And they cannot raise arguments

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> See King Cnty. v. Friends of Sammamish Valley, 26 Wn. App. 2d 906, 934 n.7, 530 P.3d 1023 (2023) ("This court generally does not consider arguments raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> See State v. Elliott, 114 Wn.2d 6, 15, 785 P.2d 440 (1990) ("This court will not consider claims insufficiently argued by the parties.").

for the first time in a reply.<sup>51</sup>

Here, the Order concerned the Commissioner's Ruling wherein the Commissioner set the amounts of the awards of attorney fees consistent with the lodestar method.<sup>52</sup> The Commissioner had before them affidavits for fees that reflected the hours worked, the type of work done, and the category

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> See Kissan Berry Farm v. Whatcom Farmers Coop, 23 Wn. App. 2d 490, 497 n.5, 516 P.3d 821 (2022) ("[A]rguments raised for the first time in a reply brief are not properly before the court because they do not permit the nonmoving party the opportunity to respond." (citing White v. Kent Med. Ctr., Inc., 61 Wn. App. 163, 168, 810 P.2d 4 (1991)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> See Tribble v. Allstate Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 134 Wn. App. 163, 175, 139 P.3d 373 (2006) ("A commissioner ... will determine the amount ... using a basic lodestar formula."); McLelland v. Paxton, 11 Wn. App. 2d 181, 224, 453 P.3d 1 (2019) ("[T]he trial court begins with a calculation of the 'lodestar,' which equals the number of hours reasonably expended on the litigation multiplied by a reasonable hourly rate.... [T]he court should discount hours spent on unsuccessful claims, duplicated effort, or otherwise unproductive time." (internal citations omitted)).

person who did the work.<sup>53</sup> The Commissioner applied a general reduction to the submitted fees,<sup>54</sup> permissible where segregation of time on matters for which fees are authorized from time on other matters is difficult.<sup>55</sup> Indeed, segregation need not occur where claims involve a common core of facts or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See Miller v. Kenny, 180 Wn. App. 772, 822, 325 P.3d 278 (2014) ("This documentation need not be exhaustive or in minute detail, but must inform the court, in addition to the

number of hours worked, of the type of work performed and the category of attorney who performed the work ...." (quoting *Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 100 Wn.2d 581, 597, 675 P.2d 193 (1983)). Affidavit of Matthew R. Wojcik for CWD Groups Attorney Fees on Appeal, No. 82407-4-I (Wash. App. Nov. 2, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Commissioner's Ruling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Hume v. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 672, 880 P.2d 988 (1994) ("If ... an attorney fees recovery is authorized for only some of the claims, the attorney fees award must properly reflect a segregation of the time spent on issues for which attorney fees are authorized from time spent on other issues."); Clausen v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 70, 82, 272 P.3d 827 (2012) ("Appellate courts, however, have permitted the use of a percentage reduction in segregating fees and costs when, as here, the specifics of the case make segregating actual hours difficult.").

are based on related legal theories.<sup>56</sup> The amount of \$41,400 in fees for CWD, then, was not unreasonably high and was consistent with the lodestar method.

In trying to modify the Commissioner's Ruling, Steichen failed to present convincing, timely, and sufficiently developed arguments for doing so. After failing to timely object to the attorney-fees affidavit for CWD before the Commissioner's Ruling, Steichen filed his motion to modify wherein he disputed the amount of the award of attorney fees in the Commissioner's Ruling with new and insufficiently developed arguments. For example, he argued that fees were wrongly awarded for "duplicative efforts," without specifying and explaining what "efforts" were supposedly "duplicative." He argued that fees were wrongly awarded for "block billed" work,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Fiore v. PPG Indus., Inc., 169 Wn. App. 325, 352, 279 P.3d 972 (2012). See, e.g., CP 4–5 (¶ 17).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Motion to Modify at p. 7.

without identifying what was supposedly "block billed."<sup>58</sup> Nor did he articulate a proposal for the segregation of fees about which he argued.<sup>59</sup> In addition to being insufficient, Steichen's motion to modify prejudicially left CWD to guess the scope of and bases for his contentions.<sup>60</sup>

Steichen, thus, failed to give adequate, timely, and sufficiently developed arguments to modify the Commissioner's Ruling. Similarly, he now fails to meet his

<sup>58</sup> *Id.* at p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> *Id.* at pp. 6–7. *See Miller*, 180 Wn. App. at 824 ("Especially because Safeco made no proposal as to how the time could have been segregated, we cannot find that the trial court was obliged to make a segregation.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> See Garrett Dev., LLC v. Deer Creek Water Corp., No. 21-6105, 2022 WL 12184048, at \*11–12 (10th Cir. Oct. 21, 2022) (unpublished) (indicating that a party's duty to develop an argument is in part required to allow an opposing party the chance to respond); 10th Cir. R. 32.1 ("Unpublished decisions are not precedential, but may be cited for their persuasive value.").

"heavy burden" of showing that the Court of Appeals' Order triggers RAP 13.5(b)'s "specific and stringent criteria ...." Enstead of addressing the amounts of the awards of attorney fees in the Commissioner's Ruling that was the subject of the Order, Steichen argues a matter that could not be resolved by the Order: namely, the Respondents' rights to awards of attorney fees resolved in the unpublished Opinion. The parties have already addressed under the relevant rule of appellate procedure Steichen's desire for the review of issues regarding the right to an award of attorney fees, specifically in his petition for review and the Respondents' answers to the same before this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> See In re Grove, 127 Wn.2d at 235 (describing burden under similar criteria in RAP 2.3(b)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> In re Dependency of N.G., 199 Wn.2d at 595 (internal quotations and citation omitted)); RAP 13.5(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> See supra § V.B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> RAP 13.4(b). Petition at pp. 1, 15–18; Respondent CWD Group's Answer to Randall R. Steichen's Petition for Review, and Appendix, at pp. 4–5, 28–30, No. 102739-7 (Wash. Mar. 6, 2024).

Moreover, for the sake of argument, assuming Steichen could dispute the right to an award of attorney fees in moving to modify the Commissioner's Ruling (which he could not), Steichen failed to timely make those arguments. After CWD opposed Steichen's motion to modify in which he tried disputing the amount of CWD's award in the Commissioner's Ruling, 65 Steichen made new arguments in his subsequent reply about whether CWD had a right to an award of attorney fees. 66 Steichen, however, could not make new arguments in his reply. 67

\_\_\_

<sup>65</sup> Motion to Modify at pp. 5–9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Reply to CWD's Answer to Motion to Modify at pp. 1–7, No. 82407-4-I (Wash. App. Jan. 8, 2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> See Kissan Berry Farm, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 497 n.5 ("[A]rguments raised for the first time in a reply brief are not properly before the court because they do not permit the nonmoving party the opportunity to respond." (citing White, Inc., 61 Wn. App. at 168)). Insomuch as Steichen makes new arguments in his reply in support of his motion for discretionary review, they should not be considered. See id.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

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